IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 8 1991

CLERK, SURREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81-12190 CF 10
APPEAL NO. 77,366

DAVID KIDD GORHAM,
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF

OF

APPELLANT

Thomas K. Equels
HOLTZMAN, KRINZMAN & EQUELS, P.A.
Attorneys for DAVID GORHAM
1500 San Remo Avenue, Suite 200
Coral Gables, Florida 33146
Telephone: (305) 662-770

Stuart H. Singer
Holly R. Skolnick
Michelle A. Fongyee
GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN,
LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A.
Attorneys for Appellant
1221 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in denying GORHAM's Rule 3.850 motion where the State failed to disclose to the defense (1) that the key State witness had made a sworn, written statement to the court that the lead detective and the prosecutor in this case had recommended leniency for her; (2) that this witness was a confidential informant who had received monetary payments and other consideration from the Pompano Beach Police Department; and (3) that there were two other suspects in the Peterson murder for which GORHAM was charged.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in denying GORHAM's Rule 3.850 motion, where his trial counsel failed to properly interview or call at trial a witness to the crime scene who would have testified that GORHAM could not have been the murderer.
- 3. Whether a new trial is required where GORHAM's conviction rests upon tainted testimony.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

DAVID KIDD GORHAM was convicted after a trial by jury of first degree murder and attempted robbery on October 26, 1982. The jury recommended a life sentence but the judge overrode the jury recommendation and imposed the death penalty. The conviction and sentence were affirmed by this Court in <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1181, 105 S. Ct. 941, 83 L.Ed.2d 953 (1985).

GORHAM subsequently obtained new undersigned counsel. A post-trial investigation revealed that the State had significant information material to GORHAM's defense that it never disclosed to GORHAM's trial counsel. This information included evidence of a deal between the State and its key witness, Ada Johnson, and the existence of a witness to the crime, Loretta Forehand, whose testimony would have exonerated GORHAM. On the basis of this information, GORHAM filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 3.850. See Tr., Vol. VI, pp. 697-746. 1/2

The trial court denied GORHAM's Rule 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing. GORHAM appealed the trial court's summary denial of his Rule 3.850 motion to this Court which remanded for an evidentiary hearing on certain issues, see Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1988), Tr., Vol. VI, pp. 688-695, and instructed the trial court to determine:

- (1) whether the state failed to disclose promises of leniency made to Ada Johnson, a key state witness, in exchange for favorable testimony;
- (2) whether the state should have furnished an oral statement allegedly made by Loretta Forehand to police officers at the scene;
- (3) whether the state should have disclosed the existence of two other suspects; and

Throughout this brief, "Tr." refers to the Record which consists primarily of the transcript of the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing. An index to the Record can be found in Volume VI. "Trial" refers to the transcript of GORHAM's October 1982 trial.

(4) whether GORHAM was deprived of effective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney failed to interview Loretta Forehand.

Id.

II. THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL: A CIRCUMSTANTIAL CASE

GORHAM was convicted of the murder of Carl Peterson solely on the basis of circumstantial evidence. No witness testified to having seen GORHAM commit the murder. The State's key witness was Ada Johnson, who testified that, although she was a block away, she saw the back of a man running from the crime scene who she thought was GORHAM because he was wearing clothing similar to what GORHAM had worn earlier in the day. Trial 530-31. Johnson also stated that, on the morning of the murder, GORHAM had a pistol with him and said he would try to get rent money he needed. Trial 526-527. On cross-examination, Ada Johnson explicitly denied making a deal with the State in exchange for her testimony. Trial 540. In closing, the State emphasized this point, stating that Ada Johnson was believable because she "had nothing to gain."

Kenneth Gardner, an inmate who heard shots while on work release and reported the crime to the police, contradicted Ms. Johnson's testimony. Although he was called by the State, Gardner testified unequivocally that he saw someone fleeing the crime scene soon after hearing the shots but that this individual was not DAVID

Ms. Johnson had given a prior statement to the Pompano Beach Police Department in which she stated that she saw nothing regarding the murder. <u>See</u> Defense Exhibit 5.

GORHAM. Gardner testified that he was positive that he had never seen GORHAM before in his life. Trial 457-468. Gardner also revealed that, prior to trial, the prosecutor offered to reinstate his probation if Gardner would change his testimony and identify GORHAM as the person who ran from the crime scene. Gardner testified that he would not lie about such an important matter and refused to falsely implicate GORHAM in the Peterson murder. Trial 466-467.

Apart from Ada Johnson's testimony, the State's case rested on the fact that GORHAM's fingerprints were found on a paper receipt located near Peterson's body and GORHAM's use of the dead man's credit cards. However, it was established at trial that the crime scene had not been secured for at least 35 minutes after the murder, Trial 362, and that possession of the credit cards did not show participation in the murder and robbery.

The State also introduced statements made by GORHAM to the police. Although he initially denied being in the vicinity of the murder, GORHAM later admitted fraudulent use of the credit cards and claimed that he bought them from two men. Trial 625, 631. GORHAM later stated that he found the credit cards on the road in a wallet outside the garage where Peterson was killed. Specifically, GORHAM stated he was walking near the garage and heard shots. He looked down the street and saw two or three men flee to a car, then noticed a wallet on the ground. GORHAM picked

The prosecutor admitted to the Court that: "I told him I would be perfectly happy to write to the Parole Commission if he did cooperate and tell them that fact." Trial 448.

up the wallet, took out the credit cards, and then dropped the wallet back on the ground outside the garage. Trial 641. This would explain his fingerprints on a receipt. At all times, in all statements, GORHAM steadfastly denied participating in the robbery or murder of Carl Peterson.

GORHAM's court-appointed defense counsel, Michael Gelety, rested immediately after the State's case was completed. No alternative theory of the case was given. No witness was called to testify.

The jury convicted GORHAM of first degree murder. At the sentencing hearing, Gelety presented no mitigating evidence on GORHAM's behalf and instead moved for a continuance to compel the attendance of witnesses that he allegedly had subpoenaed. Trial 780, 784. The trial court denied the continuance motion and, after the State presented its evidence of aggravating circumstances, Gelety again immediately rested. Trial 796. As stated previously, the judge imposed the death penalty overriding the jury's recommendation of a life sentence. 4/

III. EVIDENCE AT THE RULE 3.850 HEARING

At the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing, GORHAM presented substantial testimony and documentary evidence on the issues designated by this Court's order of remand.

This Court, on review, ruled that two of the aggravating circumstances found by the trial judge were not supported by the evidence. Because there was no mitigating evidence presented, however, this Court affirmed the trial court's override of the jury recommendation for a life sentence.

A. The State's Failure To Disclose Impeachment Evidence Concerning Its Most Important Witness

It is GORHAM's position that Ada Johnson, the State's "key witness" according to this Court, Gorham v. State, 521 So.2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988), falsely testified at trial that she had no deal with the State and that evidence of this deal was unlawfully In support of this claim, GORHAM withheld from the defense. introduced into evidence a motion for mitigation and reduction of sentence filed by Ms. Johnson in a case where she had been convicted of grand theft and sentenced to three years imprisonment. Defense Exhibit 2.5/ In the motion, she swore that she had been given mitigation recommendations by Assistant State Attorney Thomas Kern, the prosecutor in the GORHAM case, and Detective Sergeant Daniel Murray of the Pompano Beach Police Department, the lead detective in the GORHAM case. See Defense Exhibit 2. Neither Kern nor Murray had any involvement in Johnson's grand theft case. Ms. Johnson admitted that she filed this motion for mitigation in May of 1982, Tr., pp. 288-289. Ms. Johnson testified that it was her understanding she was, in fact, given mitigation recommendations by Kern and Murray. Tr., pp. 290-293. This written motion for mitigation was never turned over to Gelety by the State. Tr., p. $541.^{6}$

For this Court's convenience, a copy of Ada Johnson's motion for mitigation and reduction of sentence, Defense Exhibit 2, is appended as Exhibit A to this Brief.

Ms. Johnson's motion for mitigation was denied on May 26, 1982 because the court found that it was without jurisdiction to grant such a motion.

Kern and Murray denied the existence of a deal. However, GORHAM introduced into evidence a sworn statement by Ada Johnson in which she admitted that she had made a deal with the State in exchange for her testimony against GORHAM. Tr., Vol. V. Ms. Johnson was interviewed by GORHAM's appellate counsel and an investigator in November 1989. During this interview, Ms. Johnson admitted that she had made a deal with the State and gave a taped sworn statement to this effect. Id. 2/ Specifically, she stated that the State had agreed not to seek probation violation charges against her children's father, Jim Oscar Smith, if she "cooperated" in the GORHAM case. Id.

This sworn statement is corroborated by the facts surrounding the arrest of Jim Oscar Smith. Shortly after GORHAM was arrested, Ada Johnson and Jim Oscar Smith were involved in a high speed chase with the Pompano Beach police. Tr., pp. 578-579. During the arrest, Smith struggled with the police, Tr., pp. 579-580, and was charged with resisting arrest. Tr., pp. 583-584. At the time of this arrest, Jim Oscar Smith was on probation for armed robbery and faced a revocation of this probation. Tr., p. 615. Mr. Smith, however, was not prosecuted on probation violation charges and was placed back on probation. Tr., p. 586.

Ada Johnson's testimony concerning what she saw the night of the murder substantially changed after she and Jim Oscar Smith were arrested. In a sworn statement Ada Johnson gave to the

For this Court's convenience, a copy of the taped transcript of Ms. Johnson's sworn statement taken on November 1, 1989, Tr., Vol. V, is appended as Exhibit B to this Brief.

police on December 18, 1981, Defense Exhibit 5, she did not make any mention of having seen GORHAM at the time of the shooting. Moreover, she recounted in that statement that she had been questioned by the police on the night of the shooting and had told them that she had not seen or heard anything. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Johnson and Mr. Smith were arrested on December 28, 1981 for grand theft and resisting arrest. When Ms. Johnson subsequently testified at GORHAM's trial, however, she claimed that she saw someone dressed as GORHAM had been dressed earlier that day flee from Carl Peterson's garage shortly after the shots were fired. Trial 530-31.

Ada Johnson recanted the sworn statement concerning her deal with the State at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing, Tr., p. 245, claiming GORHAM's appellate counsel had offered to buy her a white couch for this statement, Tr., p. 267, and that she thought the statement was not to be used in court. Tr., pp. 248-250, 256. Steve Sessler, an investigator who was present when Ms. Johnson made her sworn statement, vehemently denied that Ms. Johnson was told that her statement would not be used in court, Tr., pp. 407-408, and that she was promised a white couch in exchange for her statement. Tr., p. 408.8/

GORHAM also established that at the time that she testified against GORHAM, Ms. Johnson worked for the Pompano Beach Police Department as an informant under the code name "Apple."

The trial court prohibited Ms. Skolnick, one of GORHAM's appellate counsel, from testifying as to what occurred.

Tr., pp. 215-217, 273, 275, 467, 469, 587. Moreover, while Ms. Johnson was incarcerated during the period between GORHAM's two trials, she received money and other consideration from the police. GORHAM introduced into evidence a "receipt for a confidential informant" containing Ada Johnson's name and the file number for the Peterson murder. Defense Exhibit 19. This receipt revealed that approximately \$10.00 was given to Ada Johnson in June of 1982 by the Pompano Beach police, before GORHAM's October trial. Id. See also Tr., pp. 477-478. Detective Murray also testified that he provided Ms. Johnson with talcum powder, other sundries and spending money while she was incarcerated. Tr., pp. 480-481, 484.

Kern admitted that the motion for mitigation was not disclosed to the defense because he was unaware of it. Tr., p. 542. Detective Murray admitted that he did not inform Kern that Ada Johnson was an informant or that she had received payments from the police. Tr., p. 469. Kern acknowledged that he never received this information. Tr., p. 534. Moreover, Kern admitted that information that a state witness is a paid informant was Brady material and that he was obliged to disclose it to the defense. Tr., p. 537. In fact, Kern testified that if he had been aware about Ada Johnson, he "certainly" would have provided this information to the defense, even if there had been no specific request for it. Id.

Gelety testified that he would have impeached Ada Johnson with her motion for mitigation and the fact that she was

a paid confidential informant had it been disclosed to him. Tr., pp. 78-79, 81-82. According to Gelety, this information, if presented properly, could have substantially undermined Ada Johnson's credibility. Tr., pp. 78-79, 81-82. Moreover, in Gelety's opinion, the fact that this motion for mitigation was denied would not have lessened its impact of confronting her with the motion. Tr., pp. 108-109. The written motion would have been important because it would have demonstrated that Ms. Johnson did in fact have a deal with the state, and moreover, had lied under oath by denying gaining anything for her testimony. Tr., p. 109.

B. The State's Failure To Disclose Evidence Of Other Suspects

Detective Murray testified that the Pompano Beach Police Department had information pertaining to two men with a history of attacking Carl Peterson and a handwritten note based upon an interview with Charles Slocumb who provided the police with this information. Tr., pp. 453. See also Defense Exhibit 17. The police had also issued an intelligence bulletin for a "Willie Pickett" who was believed to have information relating to the murder. Tr., pp. 444, 452. Kern was never given the information about Willie Pickett, Tr., p. 453, nor was he told about the two men with a history of attacking Peterson or given the handwritten note. Tr., pp. 454-455. Murray testified that he failed to give Kern the note pertaining to the two other suspects because of oversight, and not because he made a determination that this information was irrelevant. Tr., p. 455. Kern acknowledged that

he never received any of this information from the police and that he, therefore, did not disclose it to Gelety. Tr., pp. 543-546. Kern also testified that, had he known about Willie Pickett and the other two suspects, he would have disclosed this information to Gelety. Tr., pp. 543, 546.

According to Gelety, he would have utilized the information relating to Willie Pickett and the existence of other suspects, had it been disclosed to him. Tr., pp. 37-38, 46, 49, 71-72, 74-75. This information was also material to GORHAM's defense because it corroborated the defense theory that others had committed the crime. Tr., pp. 74-75.

C. Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel

Gelety was appointed by the trial court to represent GORHAM in this first degree murder case shortly after he left the State Attorney's Office and began practicing as a criminal defense attorney. He was a sole practitioner and did not have anyone else working on the case with him. Tr., p. 28-29. He never requested any funds from the court to hire an investigator. Tr., p. 29, relying instead upon GORHAM and his friend, Louise Owens, to find witnesses for him. Tr., p. 60. Gelety testified that he

Gelety testified at the Rule 3.850 hearing, on November 20, 1989, that he had been practicing law for approximately thirteen (13) years. Tr., p. 38. He further testified that he spent his first five and one-half (5 1/2) years of his career as a prosecutor before opening his own practice as a defense attorney in Broward County. Tr., p.39.

never did an area canvas or even visit the scene of the crime. Tr., p. 100.

As a result of this inadequate investigation, Gelety failed to call a witness at trial who would have proven GORHAM innocent. This witness, Loretta Forehand, was an elderly woman and a life-long South Florida resident. She worked as a Christian volunteer and was collecting money for her church when she saw GORHAM walking on the street outside Peterson's garage at the time of the murder. Tr., pp. 121-123, 129-130. 129

Ms. Forehand testified that she was standing near Peterson's garage when she heard two shots and saw muzzle flashes inside the garage. Tr., p. 121. The garage door was half open and Ms. Forehand could see into the building from outside. Tr., p. 128. After no more than three or four minutes, she saw two men running from the direction of the garage and past her. Tr., pp. 122-123. At the time that she saw the flashes and heard the gunshots, she saw GORHAM walking towards her from the opposite direction. Tr., p. 122. She saw GORHAM stoop down and pick something up from the ground. Tr., p. 123. In short, if Forehand's testimony was credible, GORHAM could not have committed the murder of Carl Peterson. Gelety should have properly interviewed and called this crucial witness on GORHAM's behalf.

Pursuant to a Stipulation between the defense and the State, a videotaped deposition of Ms. Forehand was played at the hearing. This deposition is part of the record and available for this Court's review. See generally Tr., pp. 113-193. For this Court's convenience, a copy of the transcript of Loretta Forehand's videotaped deposition is appended as Exhibit C to this Brief.

Gelety was even put on notice that Forehand was a material witness. Louise Owens testified that she spoke with GORHAM at the jail before his trial. Tr., p. 429. GORHAM told her that there was a witness who saw him the night that Carl Peterson was murdered. More specifically, GORHAM told her that there was a church lady named Ms. Forehand that could help him. Tr., p. 430. Ms. Owens located Ms. Forehand and gave her name and phone number to Gelety. A copy of the letter sent by Ms. Owens to Gelety with the names of potential witnesses, including Loretta Forehand, was admitted as Defense Exhibit 14.

Gelety testified that he met with Ms. Forehand but spent, in his own words, "a minimal amount of time" with her. Tr., p. 84. This meeting was conducted outside the courtroom in the middle of GORHAM's first trial, 11/2 Tr., p. 85 and lasted about five or ten minutes, and possibly as little time as thirty seconds. Tr., p. 84. Gelety would not even characterize his discussions with Ms. Forehand as an "interview". Tr., p. 83. He never spoke to her in his office, Tr., p. 85, nor did he remember speaking to her again after that first meeting. Tr., p. 86. According to Gelety, he asked her what she knew about the case and she said she knew nothing. Tr., p. 62. He noted that she appeared to be an "eccentric individual" who had a tendency to "go off track." Tr., p. 65. He also remembered that her "wig was

A mistrial was declared and a second trial was held in October.

"the major factor" in his decision not to call Ms. Forehand as a witness was that "it was time for us to put up or shut up and she had nothing to say". Tr., p.66.

In fact, Gelety's own notes from his file demonstrated that Ms. Forehand had substantial information about the case, even though he failed to elicit the full scope of what she had seen. According to Gelety's handwritten notes, Defense Exhibit 3, Ms. Forehand told him that "the Pickett boy had done it," that there were two boys who were trying to get her to buy stolen credit cards and that GORHAM "could not be the murderer." Tr., pp. 94-95. See also Defense Exhibit 3.

When he was confronted with his own notes, Gelety admitted that this was significant information, and that he never followed up on it. Tr., pp. 87-88. Also, contrary to his testimony that he had no use for Ms. Forehand at GORHAM's October trial because she did not appear to be a good witness, Gelety's notes demonstrate that he thought Ms. Forehand should be subpoenaed her for both the guilt and sentencing phases of GORHAM's trial. See Defense Exhibit 3. Gelety tried to contact her by mail for GORHAM's October trial, but his letter was returned because the address was incorrect. See Defense Exhibit 4. After the letter was returned, he made no further efforts to contact Loretta Forehand. Tr., pp. 103-104.

At another point in his testimony, Gelety indicated that his conversation with Ms. Forehand may not have been in person, but by telephone. Tr., pp. 94-95.

Brian McDonald, a senior trial attorney with the Public Defender for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida in Dade County, testified as an expert witness concerning effective assistance of counsel in a first degree murder case. Mr. McDonald has represented approximately fifty persons in capital murder cases, thirty or thirty-five of whom went to trial. He reviewed Ms. Forehand's videotaped deposition, the trial transcript and Mr. Gelety's testimony at the Rule 3.850 hearing and concluded unequivocally that the manner in which Gelety interviewed Ms. Forehand was unreasonable under the circumstances. Tr., p. 347.

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