IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 26 1991

CASE NO. 77,366

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID KIDD GORHAM,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 656879 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly determined that Ada Johnson's testimony was not given in exchange for a more favorable sentence for her or her boyfriend, Jim Oscar Smith. Since no exculpatory evidence existed the state cannot be guilty of a Brady violation.

The trial court correctly determined that the state was not required to give to appellant any information concerning other "suspects" as it was not discoverable.

The trial court correctly determined that Mr. Gelety was not ineffective in failing to call Ms. Forehand as a defense witness in the guilt phase. His decision not to call her was sound trial strategy. The trial court correctly found that Ms. Forehand's testimony would not have been helpful nor was she a very credible witness.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE STATE DID NOT OFFER A STATE WITNESS LENIENT TREATMENT IN EXCHANGE FOR INCULPATATORY TESTIMONY AGAINST APPELLANT

Appellant claims that the state, in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S 83 (1963), failed to disclose promises of leniency made to Ada Johnson in exchange for inculpatory testimony against him. After an evidentiary, the trial court determined that no such promise or deal existed. (Tr. 754-755). The trial court's factual findings are more than supported by the record.

Appellant claims that the trial court incorrectly found that no deal ever existed between Johnson and the state. Appellant has failed to establish an abuse of discretion in the trial court's factual findings, consequently the judge's findings must be sustained. Williams v. State, 16 FLW 1769, 1770 (2nd DCA July 5, 1991); Kelly v. State, 569 So.2d 754, 762 (Fla. 1990).

Appellant's challenge to the trial court's order rests on the following evidence presented by appellate at the evidentiary hearing; 1. Ada Johnson's pro se motion to mitigate sentence that was filed on May 13, 1982. (See appellant's exihibit A). In that sworn motion Johnson asks the trial court to mitigate her sentence based on the death of her new born twins, her poor health and the alleged recommendations of ASA Tom Kern

and Detective Murray. The motion was denied absent any response by the state on May 26, 1982; 2. Ada Johnson gave a sworn tapped statement to Appellant's present counsel claiming that her common-law husband Jim Oscar Smith was given leniency in exchange for Johnson's testimony. (See appellant's exhibit B). Appellant claims that this evidence is corroborated by the surrounding facts. Appellee strongly disagrees.

At the evidentiary hearing Ms. Johnson repeatedly stated that no deal was ever made between her the state. (Tr. 245-248 259-260, 263 266-269, 293-294, 305, 309, 314, 319). When appellant attempted to impeach her with a prior sworn statement, Ms. Johnson alleged that the prior sworn statement was given in exchange for a promise that appellant's counsel would buy Ms. Johnson a couch. Ms. Johnson was also told that her statement would not be admissible in court. (Tr. 256, 259-261, 265-269,314).

Assistant State Attorneys Tom Kern and William Demitiouleas, and Detectives Pyroth and Murray, all stated that no deal had ever been made to Johnson. (Tr. 225, 480, 496, 554, 592-593).

Further evidence corroborating the fact that no deal was made between the state and Ms. Johnson is the fact that Johnson's motion to mitigate was denied. She was sentenced to three years imprisonment and she served three years in jail. (Tr. 583-586). More telling is the fact that even after her motion was denied, Ms. Johnson still testified at appellant's

retrial. (Tr. 306). Consequently, irrespective of the conflicting evidence the unrefuted fact remains that Ms. Johnson testified at the second trial regardless of the fact that she did not receive any leniency. Appellee submits that such uncontroverted facts support the trial court's finding that no deal ever existed between Johnson and the state.

Appellant claims that during cross examination of Johnson at trial, he was denied the opportunity to impeach Ms. Johnson with her prior motion to mitigate. Such evidence would not have affected the outcome of the trial as it would have clearly established that the state did not have a deal with Ms. Johnson as she was still serving her original three year sentence.

Ms. Johnson's sworn statement to Holly Skolnick, appellant's defense counsel, makes reference to a deal involving lenient treatment to Jim Oscar Smith in exchange for her testimony. Not only was this sworn statement recanted by Ms. Johnson, it was also refuted by the testimony of now Judge William Dimitirouleas (then assistant state attorney) and Jim Oscar Smith's attorney, Hillard Moldoff (Tr. 593, 609-614). Appellant has failed to establish any legal reason why the trial court's findings should not be upheld by this court. Kelly.

Appellant also claims that Ms. Johnson's confidential informant status is also <u>Brady</u> material. Appellant is in error. First of all it has not been established that Ms. Johnson was a C.I. in appellant's case. Quiet to the contrary, none of Ms.

Johnson's informant activities were performed during this case. (Tr. 274, 471). Appellant's reliance on <u>United States v. Shaffer</u>, 789 F.2d 682 (9th Cir. 1986) is unavailing. There the federal appellate court found unrelated informant activity relevant to impeach a witness's statement that he had never participated in any other heroin transactions. <u>Shaffer</u>, 789 F.2d at 689. The informant activity performed in unrelated cases was only relevant to the extent that it rebutted a prior inconsistent statement. Informant activity is not per se <u>Brady</u> material in and of itself. The fact that Mr. Kern stated that he would have revealed Ms. Johnson's informant status to Appellant is hardly dispositive of this issue.

The existence <u>vel</u> <u>non</u> of any arrangement between Ms. Johnson and the state is only relevant to the extent that a promise of leniency was interpreted by the witness as contingent upon the nature of any testimony. <u>Marrow v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 17 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In the instant case such a contingency did not exist. (Tr. 293-294). Appellant has failed to demonstrate how the trial court abused it's discretion in finding that no deal existed between the state and Ms. Johnson. <u>Kelly</u>. A fortiori, appellant's alleged Brady claim must be denied.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE STATE DID NOT WITHHOLD ANY MATERIAL EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF BRADY V. MARYLAND

Appellant claims that the state withheld evidence regarding the existence of two other suspects and also failed to disclose that a potential witness, Willie Pickett, may have some information about the case. Appellee asserts that the trial court properly determined that this information was not relevant.

Specifically Appellant claims that the police had in their possession a handwritten note which revealed that a state witness, Charles Slocumbs, believed that two men from Deerfield may have had something to do with this crime. (State's exhibit 1.)

In order to demonstrate that he is entitled to relief, Appellant must demonstrate that the state withheld material evidence in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). On numerous occasions this Court has applied the rule articulated in <u>Brady</u>. In a prior opinion regarding Appellant, this Court has reiterated the definition of materiality;

"The rule enunciated in <u>Brady</u> is that "the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." As noted by the Supreme Court, "the mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the

outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." citing to <u>United States v.</u> Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976).

Gorham v. State , 521 So.2d 2067, 1069 (Fla. 1988).

Applying this test to the instant case it is apparent that Mr. Slocum's hunch that others may have been involved in this crime was not discoverable Brady material. statement that two other men had previously stolen from the victim coupled with the fact that one of them just bought a car can not seriously be characterized as material evidence. was no evidence to confirm that the victim had ever reported any such theft. (Tr. 36). The fact that Tom Kern would have given this information to appellant does nothing to alter it's minimal Tom Kern also stated that he would have given the impact. information even though he did not believe it was discoverable. 543, 546). Furthermore, the note regarding the "potential" suspects is simply apart of the police investigatory work and is not subject to discovery. Perry v. State, 395 So.2d 170, 173 (Fla.1981).

Lastly, Slocum's theory was accessible to the defense as he was a state witness and therefore subject to deposition. (Trial 439-441). Appellant has failed to demonstrate how Slocum's hypothesis could not have been discovered through reasonably diligent preparation. Perry, 395 So.2d at 174; Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1982).

Also without merit is the claim that the state was required to give Appellant any information regarding Willie Picket. Willie Picket was never a suspect. (Tr. 452, 488) police contemplated that he may have some knowledge regarding the murder weapon. (Tr. 488). A BOLO was never even formally issued for him. (Tr. 489). Again this information is simply apart of the police department's investigatory work and is not subject to Appellant failed discovery. Furthermore has Perry. demonstrate materiality. Gorham. The trial court properly determined that the state did not withhold any information that would constitute Brady material.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Based on factual findings articulated in the trial court's order, the court correctly determined that Mr. Gelety's performance was not ineffective. (Tr. 754-755). The essence of appellant's argument on appeal is that the trial court's findings are erroneous. Appellee strongly disagrees.

Appellant claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to fully investigate/interview Loretta Forehand. Had a more complete interview taken place, appellant alleges that trial counsel would have discovered that Ms. Forehand had compelling exculpatory evidence. The evidence adduced at the post-conviction hearing completely dispels appellant's contention.

Gelety testified that he had spoken to Ms. Mr. Forehand during the first trial for several minutes. It became readily apparent that she knew nothing about the case, nor did she know appellant that well. (Tr. 61-62). Any information that she conveyed to Mr. Gelety about appellant consisted of very general statements that he was a good man. (Tr. 63). Based on her lack of knowledge regarding the crime or appellant, her eccentric nature and unpredictability Gelety made a strategic decision not to call Ms. Forehand. (Tr. 61-61, 83, 86, 101). Appellant has failed to overcome the strong presumption of effective assistance that is attached to Mr. performance. State v. Bolender, 503 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1987).

Although the trial court's factual findings are more than supported by the record and therefore must be sustained, Kelly v. State, 569 So.2d 754, 762 (Fla. 1990), Ms. Forehand's account of the events are further impeached with the following evidence. If Ms. Forehand was actually an eyewitness who spoke to appellant at the scene why did he (appellant) fail to even mention this "exculpatory" evidence during his testimony at the first trial. (Tr. 59, SR 4-7). As a matter of fact appellant testified that he was unaware of any eyewitnesses that the state may have known about. (SR 16, 19). Appellant has given three different versions of how he obtained the victim's credit cards. (Tr. 90-91, SR 15, 20-21, 26). Furthermore Mr. Gelety's case notes corroborate his testimony that he spoke to Ms. Forehand yet she denies ever speaking to him. (Tr. 157). Three other witnesses, Assistant State Attorney Tom Kern, lead Detective Murray and Detective Pyroth, testified that Ms. Forehand did not speak to officers at the scene the night of the crime. (Tr. 222, 498, 558). The trial court correctly determined that Ms. Forehand's testimony was of little value to the defense. Jones v. State, 528 So.2d 1171, 1173-1174 (Fla. 1988).

Contrary to appellant's assertion otherwise, Ms. Forehand's testimony did not corroborate appellant's most recent defense that he found the credit cards on the ground immediately after the shooting. The fact that she saw appellant pick up something from the ground (Tr. 123) does nothing to explain how he obtained the victim's credit cards as Ms. Forehand also stated

that the two men she saw running from the scene did not drop anything. (Tr. 130-131). In other words if the two men Ms. Forehand claims killed the victim ran by her and they did not drop the victim's property then how did the victim's credit cards get on to the street outside the warehouse before the victim was killed? Nor does Ms. Forhand's testimony explain the single most damaging evidence, i.e., appellant's fingerprints were found on the victim's personal papers which were discovered right next to the body? Ms. Forhand never saw appellant drop anything, she testified that he picked something up at put it in his pocket. (Tr. 123). This testimony contradicts appellant's assertion that he dropped the victim's papers on the street and some unknown person must have picked them up, went into the warehouse and placed the papers next to the body. In summation, Ms. Forehand's testimony contradicts appellant's various versions of what happened that night. Her testimony is anything but helpful to appellant's defense.

The trial court properly found that Mr. Gelety did in fact speak to Ms. Forehand. The trial court was also correct in finding that Mr. Gelety did not call her as a witness based on sound trial strategy as she was not credible. (Tr. 754-755). The trial court's legal determination that trial counsel was not ineffective was correct and must be sustained by this court.

Jones , supra.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing facts and relevant case law, Appellee respectfully requests that this court AFFIRM the trial court's order in it's entirety.